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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
COMMERCIAL METALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands, except share data) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Net sales $1,391,117 $1,597,461 $3,071,107 $3,214,536
Costs and expenses:
Cost of goods sold 1,169,703 1,455,105 2,663,472 2,895,307
Selling, general and administrative expenses 109,602 106,258 222,985 214,932
Interest expense 19,252 18,977 38,309 38,385

1,298,557 1,580,340 2,924,766 3,148,624

Earnings from continuing operations before income
taxes 92,560 17,121 146,341 65,912

Income taxes 30,841 3,866 46,288 18,957
Earnings from continuing operations 61,719 13,255 100,053 46,955

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations before
income taxes (7,268 ) (2,095 ) (9,370 ) 19,011

Income taxes (benefit) — 16 (21 ) 8,903
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (7,268 ) (2,111 ) (9,349 ) 10,108

Net earnings 54,451 11,144 90,704 57,063
Less net earnings attributable to noncontrolling
interests — 1 — 1

Net earnings attributable to CMC $54,451 $11,143 $90,704 $57,062

Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to CMC:
Earnings from continuing operations $0.53 $0.11 $0.85 $0.40
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (0.06 ) (0.02 ) (0.08 ) 0.09
Net earnings $0.47 $0.09 $0.77 $0.49

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to CMC:
Earnings from continuing operations $0.52 $0.11 $0.85 $0.40
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (0.06 ) (0.02 ) (0.08 ) 0.08
Net earnings $0.46 $0.09 $0.77 $0.48

Cash dividends per share $0.12 $0.12 $0.24 $0.24
Average basic shares outstanding 116,688,162 117,424,962 117,244,406 117,247,731
Average diluted shares outstanding 117,683,476 118,639,161 118,395,844 118,397,886
See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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COMMERCIAL METALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Net earnings $54,451 $11,144 $90,704 $57,063
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income
taxes:
Foreign currency translation adjustment and other (43,979 ) 8,743 (71,263 ) 28,185
Net unrealized loss on derivatives:
Unrealized holding loss, net of income taxes of $(839),
$(95), $(1,123) and $(544) (1,900 ) (426 ) (2,425 ) (2,043 )

Reclassification for loss included in net earnings, net of
income taxes of $391, $127, $417 and $308 727 382 766 1,362

Net unrealized loss on derivatives, net of income taxes
of $(448), $32, $(706) and $(236) (1,173 ) (44 ) (1,659 ) (681 )

Defined benefit obligation:
Net gain, net of income taxes of $0, $0, $4 and $296 — — 8 550
Amortization of prior services, net of income taxes of
$(2), $0, $(1) and $(1) (2 ) (2 ) (6 ) (4 )

Defined benefit obligation, net of income taxes of $(2),
$0, $3 and $295 (2 ) (2 ) 2 546

Other comprehensive income (loss) (45,154 ) 8,697 (72,920 ) 28,050
Comprehensive income $9,297 $19,841 $17,784 $85,113
See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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COMMERCIAL METALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED)

(in thousands, except share data) February 28,
2015 August 31, 2014

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $313,001 $434,925
Accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtful accounts of $6,095 and $5,908) 898,127 1,028,425
Inventories, net 1,088,194 935,411
Current deferred tax assets 32,120 49,455
Other current assets 100,261 105,575
Assets of businesses held for sale 82,281 —
Total current assets 2,513,984 2,553,791
Property, plant and equipment:
Land 75,221 79,295
Buildings and improvements 482,553 494,842
Equipment 1,676,347 1,728,425
Construction in process 38,337 30,591

2,272,458 2,333,153
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,397,016 ) (1,408,055 )

875,442 925,098
Goodwill 73,763 74,319
Other noncurrent assets 126,313 135,312
Total assets $3,589,502 $3,688,520
Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable-trade $298,611 $423,807
Accounts payable-documentary letters of credit 247,027 125,053
Accrued expenses and other payables 240,535 322,000
Notes payable 5,142 12,288
Current maturities of long-term debt 9,113 8,005
Liabilities of businesses held for sale 35,785 —
Total current liabilities 836,213 891,153
Deferred income taxes 56,197 55,600
Other long-term liabilities 104,343 112,134
Long-term debt 1,281,310 1,281,042
Total liabilities 2,278,063 2,339,929
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; authorized 200,000,000 shares; issued
129,060,664 shares; outstanding 115,727,822 and 117,829,262 shares 1,290 1,290

Additional paid-in capital 358,681 359,338
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (92,429 ) (19,509 )
Retained earnings 1,288,375 1,225,855
Less treasury stock, 13,332,842 and 11,231,402 shares at cost (244,627 ) (218,494 )
Stockholders' equity attributable to CMC 1,311,290 1,348,480
Stockholders' equity attributable to noncontrolling interests 149 111
Total stockholders' equity 1,311,439 1,348,591
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $3,589,502 $3,688,520
See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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COMMERCIAL METALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014
Cash flows from (used by) operating activities:
Net earnings $90,704 $57,063
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash flows from (used by) operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 66,988 67,284
Provision for losses on receivables, net 1,271 (1,871 )
Stock-based compensation 11,822 10,788
Amortization of interest rate swaps termination gain (3,799 ) (3,799 )
Deferred income taxes 20,401 18,550
Tax benefits from stock plans (46 ) (484 )
Net gain on sale of a subsidiary and other (2,014 ) (28,046 )
Write-down of inventory 1,926 —
Asset impairment 149 1,227
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 138,132 20,195
Accounts receivable sold, net (50,329 ) 149,832
Inventories (252,430 ) (214,318 )
Other assets 3,632 (14,314 )
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other payables (160,628 ) (21,861 )
Other long-term liabilities (5,063 ) (3,863 )
Net cash flows from (used by) operating activities (139,284 ) 36,383

Cash flows from (used by) investing activities:
Capital expenditures (49,498 ) (36,223 )
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment and other 8,273 6,381
Proceeds from the sale of a subsidiary 2,354 52,276
Net cash flows from (used by) investing activities (38,871 ) 22,434

Cash flows from (used by) financing activities:
Documentary letters of credit, net change 137,548 4,767
Short-term borrowings, net change (7,146 ) 2,565
Repayments on long-term debt (5,348 ) (3,143 )
Stock issued under incentive and purchase plans, net of forfeitures (1,377 ) (740 )
Treasury stock acquired (39,580 ) —
Cash dividends (28,184 ) (28,160 )
Tax benefits from stock plans 46 484
Decrease in restricted cash 3,868 18,305
Contribution from (purchase of) noncontrolling interests 38 (37 )
Payments for debt issuance costs — (430 )
Net cash flows from (used by) financing activities 59,865 (6,389 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (3,634 ) 556
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (121,924 ) 52,984
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 434,925 378,770
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $313,001 $431,754
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Supplemental information:
Noncash activities:
Capital lease additions and changes in accounts payable related to purchases of
property, plant and equipment $7,519 $10,075

See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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COMMERCIAL METALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

Common Stock AdditionalAccumulated
Other Treasury Stock  Non-

(in thousands,
except share data)

Number of
Shares AmountPaid-In

Capital

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Retained
Earnings

Number of
Shares Amount controlling

InterestsTotal

Balance,
September 1, 2013 129,060,664$1,290$363,772 $(27,176 )$1,166,732 (12,049,674)$(234,619)$156 $1,270,155

Net earnings 57,062 1 57,063
Other
comprehensive
income

28,050 28,050

Cash dividends
($0.24 per share) (28,160 ) (28,160 )

Issuance of stock
under incentive
and purchase
plans, net of
forfeitures

(15,098 ) 731,225 14,358 (740 )

Stock-based
compensation 9,104 9,104

Tax benefits from
stock plans 484 484

Contribution of
noncontrolling
interest

31 (68 )(37 )

Balance, February
28, 2014 129,060,664$1,290$358,293 $874 $1,195,634 (11,318,449)$(220,261)$89 $1,335,919

Common Stock AdditionalAccumulated
Other Treasury Stock  Non-

(in thousands,
except share data)

Number of
Shares AmountPaid-In

Capital

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Retained
Earnings

Number of
Shares Amount controlling

InterestsTotal

Balance,
September 1, 2014 129,060,664$1,290$359,338 $(19,509 )$1,225,855 (11,231,402)$(218,494)$111 $1,348,591

Net earnings 90,704 90,704
Other
comprehensive
loss

(72,920 ) (72,920 )

Cash dividends
($0.24 per share) (28,184 ) (28,184 )

Treasury stock
acquired (2,762,835 )(39,580 ) (39,580 )

Issuance of stock
under incentive
and purchase
plans, net of
forfeitures

(14,824 ) 661,395 13,447 (1,377 )
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Stock-based
compensation 10,173 10,173

Tax benefits from
stock plans 46 46

Contribution of
noncontrolling
interest

38 38

Reclassification of
share-based
liability awards

3,948 3,948

Balance, February
28, 2015 129,060,664$1,290$358,681 $(92,429 )$1,288,375 (13,332,842)$(244,627)$149 $1,311,439

See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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COMMERCIAL METALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting Principles
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP") on a basis consistent with that used in the Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014 filed by Commercial Metals Company ("CMC", and together
with its consolidated subsidiaries, the "Company") with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") and
include all normal recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the consolidated balance sheets and the
consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, cash flows and stockholders' equity for the periods
indicated. These notes should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements included in the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014. The results of operations for the three and six
month periods are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In the first quarter of fiscal 2015, the Company adopted guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB") requiring an entity to net an unrecognized tax benefit with a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss
carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward. To the extent a net operating loss carryforward, a similar
tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward is not available at the reporting date under the tax law of the applicable
jurisdiction to settle any additional income taxes that would result from the disallowance of a tax position or the tax
law of the applicable jurisdiction does not require the entity to use, and the entity does not intend to use, the deferred
tax asset for such purpose, the unrecognized tax benefit should be presented in the financial statements as a liability
and should not be combined with deferred tax assets. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2015, the Company adopted guidance issued by the FASB requiring an entity to release
any related cumulative translation adjustment into net income when it either sells a part or all of its investment in a
foreign entity or no longer holds a controlling financial interest in a subsidiary or group of assets that is a nonprofit
activity or a business within a foreign entity. In addition, the guidance resolves the diversity in practice for the
treatment of business combinations achieved in stages involving a foreign entity. The adoption of this guidance did
not have an impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2015, the Company adopted guidance issued by the FASB requiring an entity to measure
obligations resulting from joint and several liability arrangements for which the total amount of the obligation is fixed
at the reporting date. The guidance also requires entities to disclose the nature and amount of the obligation as well as
other information about the obligation. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's
consolidated financial statements.

In February 2015, the FASB issued guidance modifying the evaluation of whether limited partnerships and similar
legal entities are variable interest entities or voting interest entities. This guidance also eliminates the presumption that
a general partner should consolidate a limited partnership and affects the consolidation analysis of reporting entities
that are involved with variable interest entities, particularly those that have fee arrangements and related party
relationships. This guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim reporting periods therein, beginning after
December 15, 2015 with early adoption permitted. Entities may elect to apply this guidance either on a retrospective
or a modified retrospective basis. The Company does not expect this guidance to have a material impact on its
consolidated financial statements.
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In January 2015, the FASB issued guidance eliminating the concept of extraordinary items. Under this guidance an
entity will no longer be allowed to separately disclose extraordinary items, net of tax, in the income statement after
income from continuing operations if an event or transaction is unusual in nature and occurs infrequently. This
guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim reporting periods therein, beginning after December 15, 2015 with
early adoption permitted. Upon adoption, an entity may elect prospective or retrospective application. The Company
does not expect this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued guidance requiring management to evaluate whether there are conditions and events
that raise substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide disclosures in
certain circumstances. The new guidance was issued to reduce diversity in the timing and content of footnote
disclosures. This guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim reporting periods therein, beginning after
December 15, 2016. The Company does not expect this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

8

Edgar Filing: COMMERCIAL METALS CO - Form 10-Q

12



In August 2014, the FASB issued guidance providing a measurement alternative to the existing fair value
measurement guidance for reporting entities that consolidate a collateralized financing entity in which (1) the financial
assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value except for those incidental financial assets and financial
liabilities with their carrying values that approximate fair values and (2) the changes in the fair values of those
financial assets and financial liabilities are reflected in earnings. When the measurement alternative is elected, the
financial assets and liabilities of a collateralized financing entity will be measured using the more observable of the
fair value of the financial assets and the fair value of the financial liabilities. This guidance is effective for public
business entities for annual periods, and for interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15,
2015. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of an annual period. The Company does not expect this guidance
to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued guidance requiring entities to account for a performance target as a performance
condition if the target affects vesting and could be achieved after the requisite service period. The new guidance did
not introduce additional disclosure requirements and was issued to resolve diversity in practice. This guidance is
effective for fiscal years, and interim reporting periods therein, beginning after December 15, 2015. The Company
currently accounts for such performance targets in a manner consistent with the new guidance and does not expect this
guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance requiring entities to recognize revenue from contracts with customers by
applying a five-step model in accordance with the core principle to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. In addition, this guidance specifies the accounting for some costs to obtain or fulfill a contract with
a customer and expands disclosure requirements for revenue recognition. This guidance is effective for fiscal years,
and interim reporting periods therein, beginning after December 15, 2016. Entities have the option to adopt this
guidance either retrospectively or through a modified retrospective transition method. This new standard will
supersede existing revenue guidance and affect the Company's revenue recognition process and the presentations or
disclosures of the Company's consolidated financial statements and footnotes. The Company is currently evaluating
the impact this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In April 2014, the FASB issued guidance changing the requirements for reporting discontinued operations if the
disposal of a component of an entity, or a group of components of an entity, represents a strategic shift that has, or will
have, a major effect on an entity's operations and financial results. The guidance requires expanded disclosures for
discontinued operations and also requires entities to disclose the pre-tax profit or loss of an individually significant
component of an entity that does not qualify for discontinued operations reporting. The new guidance is effective
prospectively for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning on or after December 15, 2014. The
guidance will affect the Company's current practice of assessing discontinued operations and the presentation and
disclosure in the Company's consolidated financial statements.

9
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NOTE 2. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The following tables reflect the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes:
Three Months Ended February 28, 2015

(in thousands)
Foreign
Currency
Translation

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)
on
Derivatives

Defined
Benefit
Obligation

Total
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance, November 30, 2014 $(47,175 ) $2,528 $(2,628 ) $ (47,275 )
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (43,979 ) (1,900 ) — (45,879 )
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 727 (2 ) 725
Net other comprehensive loss (43,979 ) (1,173 ) (2 ) (45,154 )
Balance, February 28, 2015 $(91,154 ) $1,355 $(2,630 ) $ (92,429 )

Six Months Ended February 28, 2015

(in thousands)
Foreign
Currency
Translation

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)
on
Derivatives

Defined
Benefit
Obligation

Total
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance at August 31, 2014 $(19,891 ) $3,014 $(2,632 ) $ (19,509 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassifications (71,263 ) (2,425 ) 8 (73,680 )

Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 766 (6 ) 760
Net other comprehensive income (loss) (71,263 ) (1,659 ) 2 (72,920 )
Balance, February 28, 2015 $(91,154 ) $1,355 $(2,630 ) $ (92,429 )

Three Months Ended February 28, 2014

(in thousands)
Foreign
Currency
Translation

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)
on
Derivatives

Defined
Benefit
Obligation

Total
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance, November 30, 2013 $(8,035 ) $2,957 $(2,745 ) $ (7,823 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassifications 8,743 (426 ) — 8,317

Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 382 (2 ) 380
Net other comprehensive income (loss) 8,743 (44 ) (2 ) 8,697
Balance, February 28, 2014 $708 $2,913 $(2,747 ) $ 874

Six Months Ended February 28, 2014

(in thousands)
Foreign
Currency
Translation

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)
on
Derivatives

Defined
Benefit
Obligation

Total
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance at August 31, 2013 $(27,477 ) $3,594 $(3,293 ) $ (27,176 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassifications 28,185 (2,043 ) 550 26,692
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Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 1,362 (4 ) 1,358
Net other comprehensive income (loss) 28,185 (681 ) 546 28,050
Balance, February 28, 2014 $708 $2,913 $(2,747 ) $ 874

10

Edgar Filing: COMMERCIAL METALS CO - Form 10-Q

15



The significant items reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and the corresponding line
items in the consolidated statements of earnings to which the items were reclassified were as follows:

Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

Components of AOCI (in
thousands) Location 2015 2014 2015 2014

Unrealized gain (loss) on
derivatives:
Commodity Cost of goods sold $(140 ) $(117 ) $(160 ) $(236 )
Foreign exchange Net sales 74 17 74 (233 )
Foreign exchange Cost of goods sold (1,203 ) (592 ) (1,403 ) (1,514 )
Foreign exchange SG&A expenses 19 33 40 47
Interest rate Interest expense 132 150 266 266

(1,118 ) (509 ) (1,183 ) (1,670 )
Income tax effect Income taxes benefit 391 127 417 308
Net of income taxes $(727 ) $(382 ) $(766 ) $(1,362 )
Defined benefit obligation:
Amortization of prior services SG&A expenses $4 $2 $7 $5

Income tax effect Income taxes benefit
(expense) (2 ) — (1 ) (1 )

Net of income taxes $2 $2 $6 $4
                                                                                                                           Amounts in parentheses reduce earnings.
NOTE 3. SALES OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The Company has a $200.0 million U.S. sale of accounts receivable program which expires on August 15, 2017.
Under the program, CMC contributes, and several of its subsidiaries sell without recourse, certain eligible trade
accounts receivable to CMC Receivables, Inc. ("CMCRV"), a wholly owned subsidiary of CMC. CMCRV is
structured to be a bankruptcy-remote entity and was formed for the sole purpose of buying and selling trade accounts
receivable generated by the Company. CMCRV sells the trade accounts receivable in their entirety to three financial
institutions. With the consent of both CMCRV and the program's administrative agent, the amount advanced by the
financial institutions can be increased to a maximum of $300.0 million for all trade accounts receivable sold. The
remaining portion of the purchase price of the trade accounts receivable takes the form of subordinated notes from the
respective financial institutions. These notes will be satisfied from the ultimate collection of the trade accounts
receivable after payment of certain fees and other costs. The Company accounts for sales of the trade accounts
receivable as true sales, and the trade accounts receivable balances that are sold are removed from the consolidated
balance sheets. The cash advances received are reflected as cash provided by operating activities on the Company's
consolidated statements of cash flows. Additionally, the U.S. sale of accounts receivable program contains certain
cross-default provisions whereby a termination event could occur if the Company defaulted under certain of its credit
arrangements. The covenants contained in the receivables purchase agreement are consistent with the credit facility
described in Note 7, Credit Arrangements.

At February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014, under its U.S. sale of accounts receivable program, the Company had sold
$371.6 million and $389.6 million of trade accounts receivable, respectively, to the financial institutions. At
February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014, the Company had $40.0 million and $55.0 million in advance payments
outstanding on the sale of its trade accounts receivable, respectively.

In addition to the U.S. sale of accounts receivable program described above, the Company's international subsidiaries
in Europe and Australia sell trade accounts receivable to financial institutions without recourse. These arrangements
constitute true sales, and once the trade accounts receivable are sold, they are no longer available to the Company's
creditors in the event of bankruptcy. The European program allows the Company's European subsidiaries to obtain an
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advance of up to 90% of eligible trade accounts receivable sold under the terms of the arrangement. In October 2014,
the Company entered into a first amendment to its Australian program which extended the maturity date to October
2016. Under the Australian program, trade accounts receivable balances are sold to a special purpose vehicle, which in
turn sells 100% of the eligible trade accounts receivable of Commercial Metals Pty. Ltd., CMC Steel Distribution Pty.
Ltd. and G.A.M. Steel Pty. Ltd. to the financial institution. The financial institution will fund up to A$75.0 million for
all trade accounts receivable sold, and the remaining portion of the purchase price of the trade accounts receivable is
in the form of a subordinated note from the financial institution. This note will be satisfied from the ultimate
collection of the trade accounts receivable after payment of certain fees and other costs. The Company accounts for
sales of the trade accounts
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receivable as true sales, and the trade accounts receivable balances that are sold are removed from the consolidated
balance sheets. The cash advances received are reflected as cash provided by operating activities on the Company's
consolidated statements of cash flows.

At February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014, under its European and Australian programs, the Company had sold
$116.1 million and $147.3 million of trade accounts receivable, respectively, to third-party financial institutions and
received advance payments of $55.2 million and $90.5 million, respectively.

During the six months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, cash proceeds from the U.S. and international sale of
accounts receivable programs were $277.8 million and $364.7 million, respectively, and cash payments to the owners
of accounts receivable were $328.1 million and $214.9 million, respectively. For a nominal servicing fee, the
Company is responsible for servicing the trade accounts receivable for the U.S. and Australian programs. Discounts
on U.S. and international sales of trade accounts receivable were $0.4 million and $0.9 million for the three and six
months ended February 28, 2015, respectively, and $0.9 million and $1.5 million for the three and six months ended
February 28, 2014, respectively, and are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Company's
consolidated statements of earnings.

The deferred purchase price on the Company's U.S. and European and the Commercial Metals Pty. Ltd. sale of
accounts receivable programs are included in accounts receivable on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The
deferred purchase price on the CMC Steel Distribution Pty. Ltd. and the G.A.M. Steel Pty. Ltd. sale of accounts
receivable programs are included in assets of businesses held for sale on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

The following tables summarize the activity of the deferred purchase price receivables for the U.S. and international
sale of accounts receivable programs:

Three Months Ended February 28, 2015
(in thousands) Total U.S. Australia* Europe
Beginning balance $471,840 $408,320 $22,376 $41,144
Transfers of accounts receivable 888,064 753,219 63,335 71,510
Collections (973,457 ) (834,530 ) (64,031 ) (74,896 )
Ending balance $386,447 $327,009 $21,680 $37,758

Six Months Ended February 28, 2015
(in thousands) Total U.S. Australia* Europe
Beginning balance $385,169 $329,797 $34,071 $21,301
Transfers of accounts receivable 2,016,308 1,702,382 154,064 159,862
Collections (2,015,030 ) (1,705,170 ) (166,455 ) (143,405 )
Ending balance $386,447 $327,009 $21,680 $37,758

* Includes the sales of accounts receivable activities related to businesses held for sale (transfers of accounts
receivable of $41.6 million and $102.1 million, and collections of $52.9 million and $116.5 million for the three and
six months ended February 28, 2015, respectively).
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Three Months Ended February 28, 2014
(in thousands) Total U.S. Australia Europe
Beginning balance $375,223 $351,515 $— $23,708
Transfers of accounts receivable 1,039,096 774,533 180,700 83,863
Collections (1,101,202 ) (852,334 ) (151,065 ) (97,803 )
Ending balance $313,117 $273,714 $29,635 $9,768

Six Months Ended February 28, 2014
(in thousands) Total U.S. Australia Europe
Beginning balance $453,252 $358,822 $64,996 $29,434
Transfers of accounts receivable 2,076,301 1,615,104 253,820 207,377
Collections (2,144,124 ) (1,700,212 ) (216,869 ) (227,043 )
Program termination (72,312 ) — (72,312 ) —
Ending balance $313,117 $273,714 $29,635 $9,768

NOTE 4. INVENTORIES, NET

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Inventory cost for most U.S. inventories is determined by the
last-in, first-out ("LIFO") method. At February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014, 57% and 44%, respectively, of the
Company's total net inventories were valued at LIFO. LIFO inventory reserves were $120.2 million and $198.8
million at February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014, respectively.

Effective September 1, 2014, the Company changed its method of determining its interim LIFO inventory reserve
from the complete quarterly LIFO valuation method to the expected annual LIFO valuation method. Under the
expected annual LIFO valuation method, interim LIFO expense or income is based on management's current estimates
of inventory costs and quantities at year end, and that annual estimate is incurred ratably over the remainder of the
fiscal year. Key assumptions related to estimates of inventory costs used in management’s estimate changed in the
three months ended February 28, 2015 resulting in a change in the annual LIFO estimate for the fiscal year ended
August 31, 2015. Accordingly, the Company recorded pre-tax LIFO income of $72.5 million and $78.7 million for the
three and six months ended February 28, 2015, respectively.

Inventory cost for the International Mill segment is determined by the weighted average cost method. Inventory cost
for the remaining international and U.S. inventories is determined by the first-in, first-out ("FIFO") method.

The majority of the Company's inventories are in the form of finished goods with minimal work in process. At
February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014, $82.6 million and $84.3 million, before LIFO reserves, respectively, of the
Company's inventories were in the form of raw materials.
NOTE 5. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table details the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment:
Americas International

(in thousands) Recycling Mills Fabrication Mill
Marketing
and
Distribution

Consolidated

Balance at August 31, 2014 $7,267 $4,970 $57,144 $2,776 $ 2,162 $ 74,319
Foreign currency translation — — — (375 ) (181 ) (556 )
Balance at February 28, 2015 $7,267 $4,970 $57,144 $2,401 $ 1,981 $ 73,763

The total gross carrying amounts of the Company's intangible assets that are subject to amortization were $49.2
million and $53.8 million at February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014, respectively, and are included in other
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noncurrent assets on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Excluding goodwill, there are no other significant
intangible assets with indefinite lives. Intangible
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amortization expense from continuing operations was $1.7 million and $3.6 million for each of the three and six
months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
NOTE 6. BUSINESSES HELD FOR SALE, DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSITIONS
Businesses Held for Sale
The Company did not have any assets and liabilities of businesses held for sale at August 31, 2014. The components
of assets and liabilities of businesses held for sale on the Company's consolidated balance sheet were as follows:
(in thousands) February 28, 2015
Assets:
Accounts receivable $14,109
Inventories, net 59,386
Other current assets 475
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization 6,623
Other noncurrent assets 1,688
Assets of businesses held for sale $82,281
Liabilities:
Accounts payable-trade $18,174
Accounts payable-documentary letters of credit 11,890
Accrued expenses and other payables 5,721
Liabilities of businesses held for sale $35,785

Discontinued Operations 
In September 2014, the Company made the decision to exit and sell its steel distribution business in Australia. Despite
focused efforts and substantial progress to stabilize and improve the results of the Australian distribution business, the
Company determined that achieving acceptable financial returns would take additional time and investment. The
Company determined that the decision to exit this business met the definition of a discontinued operation. As a result,
this business has been presented as a discontinued operation for all periods presented. The expenses associated with
exiting this business were not material for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015. The Australian steel
distribution business was previously an operating segment included in the International Marketing and Distribution
reporting segment.
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company decided to sell all of the capital stock of its wholly owned
copper tube manufacturing operation, Howell Metal Company ("Howell"). The Company determined that the decision
to sell this business met the definition of a discontinued operation. As a result, the Company included Howell in
discontinued operations for all periods presented. Howell was previously an operating segment included in the
Americas Mills reporting segment.

Financial information for discontinued operations was as follows:
Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Net sales $41,326 $51,750 $100,337 $134,864
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations before
income taxes (7,268 ) (2,095 ) (9,370 ) 19,011

Dispositions 
During the first quarter of fiscal 2014, the Company sold all of the outstanding capital stock of Howell for $58.5
million, of which $3.2 million was held in escrow as of both February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014. During the
second quarter of fiscal 2014, the Company made a $3.0 million working capital adjustment, which was included in
the Company's estimated pre-tax gain of $23.8 million.
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NOTE 7. CREDIT ARRANGEMENTS

On June 26, 2014, the Company entered into a fourth amended and restated credit agreement (the "Credit
Agreement") with a revolving credit facility of $350.0 million and a maturity date of June 26, 2019 (the "credit
facility"). The maximum availability under the credit facility can be increased to $500.0 million. The Company's
obligation under its credit facility is secured by its U.S. inventory. The credit facility's capacity includes $50.0 million
for the issuance of stand-by letters of credit and was reduced by outstanding stand-by letters of credit which totaled
$23.4 million and $28.1 million at February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014, respectively.

Under the credit facility, the Company is required to comply with certain financial and non-financial covenants,
including covenants to maintain: (i) an interest coverage ratio (consolidated EBITDA to consolidated interest expense,
as each is defined in the Credit Agreement) of not less than 2.50 to 1.00 and (ii) a debt to capitalization ratio
(consolidated funded debt to total capitalization, as each is defined in the Credit Agreement) that does not exceed 0.60
to 1.00. In addition, beginning on the date three months prior to each maturity date of the Company's 2017 Notes and
2018 Notes, as defined below, and each day thereafter that the 2017 Notes and the 2018 Notes are outstanding, the
Company will be required to maintain liquidity of at least $150.0 million in excess of each of the outstanding
aggregate principal amounts of the 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes. Loans under the credit facility bear interest based on
the Eurocurrency rate, a base rate, or the LIBOR rate.

At February 28, 2015, the Company's interest coverage ratio was 5.61 to 1.00, and the Company's debt to
capitalization ratio was 0.49 to 1.00. The Company had no amount drawn under the credit facility at February 28,
2015 and August 31, 2014.

In May 2013, the Company issued $330.0 million of 4.875% Senior Notes due May 15, 2023 (the "2023 Notes").
Interest on the 2023 Notes is payable semi-annually on May 15 and November 15 of each year, beginning on
November 15, 2013. The Company may, at any time, redeem the 2023 Notes at a redemption price equal to 100
percent of the principal amount, plus a "make-whole" premium described in the indenture pursuant to which the 2023
Notes were issued. Additionally, if a change of control triggering event occurs, as defined by the terms of the
indenture governing the 2023 Notes, holders of the 2023 Notes may require the Company to repurchase the 2023
Notes at a purchase price equal to 101 percent of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the
date of purchase. The Company is generally not limited under the indenture governing the 2023 Notes in its ability to
incur additional indebtedness provided the Company is in compliance with certain restrictive covenants, including
restrictions on liens, sale and leaseback transactions, mergers, consolidations and transfers of substantially all of the
Company's assets.

In August 2008, the Company issued $500.0 million of 7.35% senior unsecured notes due in August 2018 (the "2018
Notes"). In anticipation of the offering, the Company entered into hedge transactions which reduced the Company's
effective interest rate on these notes to 6.40% per annum. Interest on these notes is payable semiannually.

In July 2007, the Company issued $400.0 million of 6.50% senior unsecured notes due in July 2017 (the "2017
Notes"). In anticipation of the offering, the Company entered into hedge transactions which reduced the Company's
effective interest rate on these notes to 5.74% per annum. Interest on these notes is payable semiannually.

At February 28, 2015, the Company was in compliance with all covenants contained in its debt agreements.

During fiscal 2012, the Company terminated its existing interest rate swap transactions and received cash proceeds of
approximately $52.7 million, net of customary finance charges. The resulting gain was deferred and is being
amortized as a reduction to interest expense over the remaining term of the respective debt tranches. At February 28,
2015 and August 31, 2014, the unamortized amounts were $23.0 million and $26.8 million, respectively. Amortization
of the deferred gain for each of the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014 was $1.9 million and $3.8
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million, respectively.

The Company has uncommitted credit facilities available from U.S. and international banks. In general, these credit
facilities are used to support trade letters of credit (including accounts payable settled under bankers' acceptances),
foreign exchange transactions and short-term advances which are priced at market rates.
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Long-term debt, including the deferred gain from the termination of the interest rate swaps, was as follows: 

(in thousands)
Weighted Average
Interest Rate as of
February 28, 2015

February 28,
2015 August 31, 2014

$400 million notes at 6.50% due July 2017 5.74% $407,059 $408,546
$500 million notes at 7.35% due August 2018 6.40% 515,993 518,305
$330 million notes at 4.875% due May 2023 4.875% 330,000 330,000
Other, including equipment notes 37,371 32,196

1,290,423 1,289,047
Less current maturities 9,113 8,005

$1,281,310 $1,281,042

Interest on these notes is payable semiannually.

CMC Poland Sp.z.o.o. ("CMCP") has uncommitted credit facilities of $58.0 million with several banks with
expiration dates ranging from March 2015 to January 2016. During the six months ended February 28, 2015, CMCP
had total borrowings of $41.5 million and total repayments of $41.5 million under these credit facilities. At
February 28, 2015, no material amounts were outstanding under these credit facilities.

The Company had no material amounts of interest capitalized in the cost of property, plant and equipment during the
three and six months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Cash paid for interest during the three and six
months ended February 28, 2015 was $33.4 million and $42.9 million, respectively, and $32.8 million and $42.3
million during the three and six months ended February 28, 2014, respectively.
NOTE 8. DERIVATIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company's global operations and product lines expose it to risks from fluctuations in metal commodity prices,
foreign currency exchange rates, natural gas prices and interest rates. One objective of the Company's risk
management program is to mitigate these risks using derivative instruments. The Company enters into (i) metal
commodity futures and forward contracts to mitigate the risk of unanticipated changes in gross margin due to the
volatility of the commodities' prices, (ii) foreign currency forward contracts that match the expected settlements for
purchases and sales denominated in foreign currencies and (iii) natural gas forward contracts to mitigate the risk of
unanticipated changes in operating cost due to the volatility of natural gas prices. When sales commitments to
customers include a fixed price freight component, the Company occasionally enters into freight forward contracts to
reduce the effects of the volatility of ocean freight rates.

At February 28, 2015, the notional values of the Company's foreign currency contract commitments and its
commodity contract commitments were $402.3 million and $50.0 million, respectively. At February 28, 2014, the
notional values of the Company's foreign currency contract commitments and its commodity contract commitments
were $439.9 million and $48.3 million, respectively.

The following table provides information regarding the Company's commodity contract commitments as of February
28, 2015:
Commodity Long/Short Total
Aluminum Long 4,246  MT
Aluminum Short 225  MT
Copper Long 1,457  MT
Copper Short 5,381  MT
Zinc Long 29  MT
Natural Gas Long 360,000 MMBTUs
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MT = Metric Ton
MMBTU = One million British thermal units

The Company designates only those contracts which closely match the terms of the underlying transaction as hedges
for accounting
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purposes. These hedges resulted in substantially no ineffectiveness in the Company's consolidated statements of
earnings, and there were no components excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness for the three and six
months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014. Certain foreign currency and commodity contracts were not designated as
hedges for accounting purposes, although management believes they are essential economic hedges.

The following tables summarize activities related to the Company's derivative instruments and hedged items
recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings: 

Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

Derivatives Not Designated as
Hedging Instruments (in thousands) Location 2015 2014 2015 2014

Commodity Cost of goods sold $1,866 $129 $5,301 $639
Foreign exchange Net sales 569 (226 ) 3,005 (385 )
Foreign exchange Cost of goods sold 2,480 (250 ) 4,351 (371 )
Foreign exchange SG&A expenses 7,874 (2,122 ) 20,074 (6,815 )
Gain (loss) before income taxes $12,789 $(2,469 ) $32,731 $(6,932 )

The Company's fair value hedges are designated for accounting purposes with the gains or losses on the hedged items
offsetting the gains or losses on the related derivative transactions. Hedged items relate to firm commitments on
commercial sales and purchases.
Derivatives Designated as Fair
Value Hedging Instruments (in
thousands)

Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

Location 2015 2014 2015 2014
Foreign exchange Net sales $534 $140 $359 $27
Foreign exchange Cost of goods sold (229 ) (953 ) 925 (1,080 )
Gain (loss) before income taxes $305 $(813 ) $1,284 $(1,053 )

Hedged Items Designated as Fair
Value Hedging Instruments (in
thousands)

Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

Location 2015 2014 2015 2014
Foreign exchange Net sales $(537 ) $(130 ) $(358 ) $(37 )
Foreign exchange Cost of goods sold 229 955 (925 ) 1,080
Gain (loss) before income taxes $(308 ) $825 $(1,283 ) $1,043

Effective Portion of Derivatives Designated as Cash
Flow Hedging Instruments Recognized in Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (in thousands)

Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

2015 2014 2015 2014
Commodity $(348 ) $(24 ) $(416 ) $(113 )
Foreign exchange (1,552 ) (402 ) (2,009 ) (1,930 )
Loss, net of income taxes $(1,900 ) $(426 ) $(2,425 ) $(2,043 )

Effective Portion of Derivatives
Designated as Cash Flow Hedging
Instruments Reclassified from
Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss) (in thousands)

Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

Location 2015 2014 2015 2014

Commodity Cost of goods sold $(91 ) $(64 ) $(104 ) $(153 )
Foreign exchange Net sales 76 (2 ) 76 (233 )
Foreign exchange Cost of goods sold (813 ) (416 ) (943 ) (1,174 )
Foreign exchange SG&A expenses 15 13 32 25
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Interest rate Interest expense 86 87 173 173
Loss, net of income taxes (727 ) $(382 ) $(766 ) $(1,362 )
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The Company enters into derivative agreements that include provisions to allow the set-off of certain amounts.
Derivative instruments are presented on a gross basis on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The asset and
liability balances in the tables below reflect the gross amounts of derivative instruments at February 28, 2015 and
August 31, 2014. The fair value of the Company's derivative instruments on the consolidated balance sheets was as
follows: 

Derivative Assets (in thousands) February 28,
2015 August 31, 2014

Commodity — designated for hedge accounting $10 $42
Commodity — not designated for hedge accounting 698 869
Foreign exchange — designated for hedge accounting 1,445 136
Foreign exchange — not designated for hedge accounting 2,502 1,853
Derivative assets (other current assets)* $4,655 $2,900

Derivative Liabilities (in thousands) February 28,
2015 August 31, 2014

Commodity — designated for hedge accounting $421 $6
Commodity — not designated for hedge accounting 1,295 162
Foreign exchange — designated for hedge accounting 1,936 325
Foreign exchange — not designated for hedge accounting 2,040 1,010
Derivative liabilities (accrued expenses and other payables)* $5,692 $1,503
 _________________ 
* Derivative assets and liabilities do not include the hedged items designated as fair value hedges.

As of February 28, 2015, most of the Company's derivative instruments designated to hedge exposure to the
variability in future cash flows of the forecasted transactions will mature within twelve months.

All of the instruments are highly liquid and were not entered into for trading purposes.
NOTE 9. FAIR VALUE

The Company has established a fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs to the valuation techniques used to
measure fair value into three levels. These levels are determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement. Levels within the hierarchy are defined as follows:

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets (other than those included in Level 1) which
are observable, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 - Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value
drivers are unobservable.

The following tables summarize information regarding the Company's financial assets and financial liabilities that
were measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
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Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

(in thousands) February 28,
2015

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets 
for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significant 
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable 
Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
Money market investments (1) $200,245 $200,245 $— $—
Commodity derivative assets (2) 708 698 10 —
Foreign exchange derivative assets (2) 3,947 — 3,947 —
Liabilities:
Commodity derivative liabilities (2) 1,716 1,295 421 —
Foreign exchange derivative liabilities (2) 3,976 — 3,976 —

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

(in thousands) August 31, 2014

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets 
for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significant 
Other
Observable 
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable 
Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
Money market investments (1) $200,487 $200,487 $— $—
Commodity derivative assets (2) 911 911 — —
Foreign exchange derivative assets (2) 1,989 — 1,989 —
Liabilities:
Commodity derivative liabilities (2) 168 162 6 —
Foreign exchange derivative liabilities (2) 1,335 — 1,335 —
 _________________ 
(1) Money market investments are short-term in nature, and the value is determined by broker quoted prices in active
markets. The investment portfolio mix can change each period based on the Company's assessment of investment
options.

(2) Derivative assets and liabilities classified as Level 1 are commodity futures contracts valued based on quoted
market prices in the London Metal Exchange or Commodity Exchange, Inc. Amounts in Level 2 are based on broker
quotes in the over-the-counter market. Further discussion regarding the Company's use of derivative instruments and
the classification of the assets and liabilities is included in Note 8, Derivatives and Risk Management.

There were no material non-recurring fair value measurements during the three and six months ended February 28,
2015 and 2014, respectively.

The carrying values of the Company's short-term items, including the deferred purchase price of accounts receivable,
documentary letters of credit and notes payable, approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.

The carrying values and estimated fair values of the Company's financial assets and liabilities that are not required to
be measured at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets were as follows:

February 28, 2015 August 31, 2014

(in thousands) Fair Value
Hierarchy

Carrying
Value Fair Value Carrying

Value Fair Value

$400 million notes at 6.50% due July 2017 (1) Level 2 $407,059 $429,240 $408,546 $438,200
Level 2 515,993 547,500 518,305 567,560
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$500 million notes at 7.35% due August 2018
(1)
$330 million notes at 4.875% due May 2023 (1) Level 2 330,000 315,150 330,000 325,050
_________________
(1) The fair values of the 2017 Notes, 2018 Notes and 2023 Notes are estimated based on readily available market
prices of these notes at February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014, or similar notes with the same maturities, rating and
interest rates.
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NOTE 10. INCOME TAX

The Company's effective income tax rate from continuing operations for the three and six months ended February 28,
2015 was 33.3% and 31.6%, respectively, compared with 22.6% and 28.8% for the three and six months ended
February 28, 2014, respectively. In each period, the tax rate was lower than the statutory income tax rate of 35%
because the Company had income from operations in countries which have lower tax rates than the United States. In
addition, the Company benefited under Section 199 of the Internal Revenue Code related to domestic production
activity income during the three and six months ended February 28, 2015. The Company's effective income tax rate
from discontinued operations for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 was 0.0% and 0.2%, respectively,
compared with (0.8)% and 46.8%  for the three and six months ended February 28, 2014, respectively. The Company's
effective income tax rate from discontinued operations for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 reflected
the fact that earnings from discontinued operations before income taxes included a loss in Australia, a jurisdiction in
which all tax losses created a deferred tax asset that was subject to a full valuation allowance, and thus no tax benefit.
The Company's effective income tax rate from discontinued operations for the six months ended February 28, 2014
reflected a $23.8 million pre-tax gain on the sale of Howell, resulting in the appropriate amount of U.S. federal and
state income tax expense.

The Company made net payments of $28.7 million and $8.7 million for income taxes during the six months ended
February 28, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

As of both February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014, the reserve for unrecognized income tax benefits related to the
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes was $27.3 million, exclusive of interest and penalties.

The Company's policy classifies interest recognized on an underpayment of income taxes and any statutory penalties
recognized on a tax position as income tax expense, and the balances at the end of a reporting period are recorded as
part of the current or noncurrent reserve for uncertain income tax positions. For the three and six months ended
February 28, 2015, before any income tax benefits, the Company recorded immaterial amounts of accrued interest and
penalties on unrecognized income tax benefits.

During the twelve months ending February 28, 2016, it is reasonably possible that the statute of limitations pertaining
to positions taken by the Company in prior year income tax returns may lapse or that income tax audits in various
taxing jurisdictions could be finalized. As a result, the total amount of unrecognized income tax benefits may decrease
by approximately $16.9 million, which would reduce the provision for income taxes by $2.7 million.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and multiple foreign jurisdictions with varying statutes of
limitations. In the normal course of business, CMC and its subsidiaries are subject to examination by various taxing
authorities. The following is a summary of tax years subject to examination:

U.S. Federal — 2009 and forward
U.S. States — 2009 and forward
Foreign — 2007 and forward

The Company is currently under examination by the Internal Revenue Service and state revenue authorities from 2009
to 2011. Management believes the Company's recorded tax liabilities as of February 28, 2015 sufficiently reflect the
anticipated outcome of these examinations.
NOTE 11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company's stock-based compensation plans are described, and informational disclosures provided, in Note 15,
Stock-Based Compensation Plans, to the consolidated financial statements in the Company's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014. During the six months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, restricted
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stock units and performance stock units totaling 1.0 million and 1.2 million, respectively, were granted at a
weighted-average fair value of $15.92 and $16.89, respectively.

During the six months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, the Company granted 392,517 and 390,562 equivalent
shares, respectively, of performance stock units and restricted stock units accounted for as liability awards. The fair
value of these liability awards is remeasured each reporting period and is recognized ratably over the service period.
As of February 28, 2015, the Company had 924,131 equivalent shares in awards outstanding. The Company expects
877,923 equivalent shares to vest.

In general, the restricted stock units granted during fiscal 2015 and 2014 vest ratably over a period of three years;
however, certain restricted stock units granted during fiscal 2015 vest after a specified service period; one-third of
each such award vest on the
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second anniversary of the grant date and the remaining two-thirds of each such award vest on the third anniversary of
the grant date. In addition, certain restricted stock units granted during fiscal 2014 vest after a specified service period;
25% of the award vest on the second anniversary of the grant date; 25% of each such award vest on the third
anniversary of the grant date and the remaining 50% of each such award vest on the fourth anniversary of the grant
date. Subject to the achievement of performance targets established by the Compensation Committee of CMC's Board
of Directors, the performance stock units granted during fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2014 will vest after a period of three
years.

Stock-based compensation expense for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 of $6.1 million and $11.8
million, respectively, and $5.3 million and $10.8 million for the three and six months ended February 28, 2014,
respectively, was included in selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statements
of earnings.
NOTE 12. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO CMC

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations for the three and six months ended
February 28, 2015 and 2014 were as follows: 

Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands, except share data) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Earnings from continuing operations attributable to
CMC $61,719 $13,254 $100,053 $46,954

Basic earnings per share:
       Shares outstanding for basic earnings per share 116,688,162 117,424,962 117,244,406 117,247,731

Basic earnings per share attributable to CMC: $0.53 $0.11 $0.85 $0.40

Diluted earnings per share:
       Shares outstanding for basic earnings per share 116,688,162 117,424,962 117,244,406 117,247,731

Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock-based incentive/purchase plans 995,314 1,214,199 1,151,438 1,150,155
Shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share 117,683,476 118,639,161 118,395,844 118,397,886

Diluted earnings per share attributable to CMC: $0.52 $0.11 $0.85 $0.40

Anti-dilutive shares not included above 854,703 1,175,090 623,042 1,175,090
_______________________
CMC's restricted stock is included in the number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding, but is omitted
from the basic earnings per share calculation until the shares vest.
On October 27, 2014, CMC's Board of Directors authorized a new share repurchase program under which the
Company may repurchase up to $100.0 million of shares of CMC common stock. This new program replaced the
existing program, which was terminated by CMC's Board of Directors in connection with the approval of the new
program. During the three and six months ended February 28, 2015, the Company purchased 2,202,342 and 2,762,835
shares of CMC common stock, respectively, at an average purchase price of $13.73 and $14.33 per share,
respectively. The Company had remaining authorization to purchase $60.4 million of common stock at February 28,
2015 pursuant to its share repurchase program.
NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
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In the ordinary course of conducting its business, the Company becomes involved in litigation, administrative
proceedings and governmental investigations, including environmental matters. See Note 18, Commitments and
Contingencies, to the consolidated financial statements in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended August 31, 2014.
On September 18, 2008, the Company was served with a purported class action antitrust lawsuit alleging violations of
Section 1 of the Sherman Act, brought by Standard Iron Works of Scranton, Pennsylvania, against nine steel
manufacturing companies, including CMC. The lawsuit, filed in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Illinois, alleged that the defendants conspired to fix, raise, maintain and stabilize the price at which steel
products were sold in the United States by artificially restricting
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the supply of such steel products. The lawsuit, which purported to be brought on behalf of a class consisting of all
parties who purchased steel products directly from the defendants between January 1, 2005 and September 2008
(collectively, the "Direct Purchaser Plaintiffs"), sought treble damages and costs, including reasonable attorney fees
and pre- and post-judgment interest.

On March 14, 2014, the Company entered into a final settlement agreement with the Direct Purchaser Plaintiffs. As
part of that final settlement, in April 2014, the Company paid approximately $4.0 million to the Direct Purchaser
Plaintiffs in consideration for the full and final release of all claims of the Direct Purchaser Plaintiffs. The Company
maintains that the claims lacked merit and that it has full and complete defenses to all of the claims asserted against it.
However, the Company agreed to enter into the settlement agreement to avoid further expense, inconvenience, and
distraction of burdensome and protracted litigation. On October 17, 2014, the court granted final approval of the
settlement.
On September 24, 2008, a case was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois on
behalf of a purported nationwide class of indirect purchasers naming the same defendants and containing allegations
substantially identical to those of the complaint filed by Standard Iron Works. The lawsuit sought damages, including
reasonable attorney fees and other amounts recoverable by statute. Some document production has occurred in the
case. Another action was filed in Tennessee state court on behalf of a purported class of indirect purchasers in
Tennessee naming the same defendants but seeking recovery for purchases through 2010. The lawsuit sought damages
and costs, including reasonable attorney fees and pre- and post-judgment interest. The case has been removed to
federal court and was transferred to United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois in March
2012. No motion practice or discovery has taken place. The Company believes that the lawsuits are without merit and
plans to defend them vigorously. Due to the uncertainty and the information available as of the date of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, the Company cannot reasonably estimate a range of loss relating to these cases.
NOTE 14. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Company's operating segments engage in business activities from which they may earn revenues and incur
expenses and for which discrete financial information is available. Operating results for the operating segments are
regularly reviewed by the Company's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segments and to assess performance. The Company's chief operating decision maker is identified as
the Chief Executive Officer. Operating segments are aggregated for reporting purposes when the operating segments
are identified as similar in accordance with the basic principles and aggregation criteria in the accounting standards.
The Company's reporting segments are based primarily on product lines and secondarily on geographic area. The
reporting segments have different lines of management responsibility as each business requires different marketing
strategies and management expertise.

The Company structures its business into the following five reporting segments: Americas Recycling, Americas Mills,
Americas Fabrication, International Mill and International Marketing and Distribution. The Americas Recycling
segment processes scrap metals for use as a raw material by manufacturers of new metal products. The Americas
Mills segment manufactures finished long steel products including reinforcement bar ("rebar"), merchant bar, light
structural, some special bar quality ("SBQ") and other special sections as well as semi-finished billets for re-rolling
and forging applications. The Americas Fabrication segment consists of the Company's rebar and structural fabrication
operations, fence post manufacturing plants, construction-related product facilities and plants that heat-treat steel to
strengthen and provide flexibility. The International Mill segment includes the Company's minimill and the
Company's recycling and fabrication operations in Poland. The International Marketing and Distribution segment
includes international operations for the sale, distribution and processing of steel products, ferrous and nonferrous
metals and other industrial products. Additionally, this segment includes the Company's marketing and distribution
divisions headquartered in the U.S. and also operates a recycling facility in Singapore. Corporate contains expenses of
the Company's corporate headquarters and interest expense related to its long-term debt.
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The financial information presented for the Americas Mills segment excludes Howell. Additionally, the financial
information presented for the International Marketing and Distribution segment excludes the steel distribution
business in Australia. These operations have been classified as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements
of earnings. See Note 6, Businesses Held for Sale, Discontinued Operations and Dispositions, for more information.

The Company uses adjusted operating profit (loss), a non-GAAP financial measure, to compare and to evaluate the
financial performance of its segments. Adjusted operating profit (loss) is the sum of the Company's earnings from
continuing operations before income taxes, interest expense and discounts on sales of accounts receivable.
Intersegment sales are generally priced at prevailing market prices. Certain corporate administrative expenses are
allocated to the segments based upon the nature of the expense. The accounting policies of the segments are the same
as those described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the audited consolidated financial
statements included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014.
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The following is a summary of certain financial information from continuing operations by reportable segment:
Three Months Ended February 28, 2015
Americas International

(in thousands) Recycling Mills Fabrication Mill
Marketing
and
Distribution

Corporate EliminationsContinuing
Operations

Net
sales-unaffiliated
customers

$227,499 $247,727 $ 341,679 $138,449 $ 433,046 $2,717 $ — $1,391,117

Intersegment sales 31,580 181,118 2,731 — 32,192 — (247,621) —
Net sales 259,079 428,845 344,410 138,449 465,238 2,717 (247,621) 1,391,117
Adjusted operating
profit (loss) (172 ) 98,489 11,773 819 15,678 (16,400 ) 2,037 112,224

Three Months Ended February 28, 2014
Americas International

(in thousands) Recycling Mills Fabrication Mill
Marketing
and
Distribution

Corporate EliminationsContinuing
Operations

Net
sales-unaffiliated
customers

$293,146 $277,562 $ 322,572 $181,245 $ 517,770 $5,166 $ — $1,597,461

Intersegment sales 49,121 179,287 3,318 117 2,401 — (234,244) —
Net sales 342,267 456,849 325,890 181,362 520,171 5,166 (234,244) 1,597,461
Adjusted operating
profit (loss) (863 ) 44,062 (5,330 ) 8,331 4,487 (15,064 ) 1,422 37,045

Six Months Ended February 28, 2015
Americas International

(in thousands) Recycling Mills Fabrication Mill
Marketing
and
Distribution

Corporate EliminationsContinuing
Operations

Net
sales-unaffiliated
customers

$497,301 $551,586 $ 749,916 $316,078 $ 952,677 $3,549 $ — $3,071,107

Intersegment sales 77,837 402,110 6,982 — 50,367 — (537,296) —
Net sales 575,138 953,696 756,898 316,078 1,003,044 3,549 (537,296) 3,071,107
Adjusted operating
profit (loss) (1,315 ) 173,871 8,764 5,042 33,930 (36,011 ) 1,232 185,513

Total assets at
February 28, 2015* 284,790 715,306 667,648 407,271 1,052,922 939,847 (570,006) 3,497,778

Six Months Ended February 28, 2014
Americas International

(in thousands) Recycling Mills Fabrication Mill
Marketing
and
Distribution

Corporate EliminationsContinuing
Operations

Net
sales-unaffiliated

$586,622 $569,135 $ 676,564 $409,737 $ 961,127 $11,351 $ — $3,214,536
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customers
Intersegment sales 93,848 368,865 7,544 775 4,385 — (475,417) —
Net sales 680,470 938,000 684,108 410,512 965,512 11,351 (475,417) 3,214,536
Adjusted operating
profit (loss) (24 ) 109,876 (3,113 ) 23,600 6,529 (33,113 ) 2,018 105,773

Total assets at
August 31, 2014* 296,564 647,437 691,765 466,449 949,016 1,100,995 (470,716) 3,681,510

* Excludes total assets from discontinued operations of $91.7 million at February 28, 2015 and $7.0 million at
August 31, 2014.
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Reconciliations of earnings from continuing operations to adjusted operating profit are provided below:
Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Earnings from continuing operations $61,719 $13,255 $100,053 $46,955
Income taxes 30,841 3,866 46,288 18,957
Interest expense 19,252 18,977 38,309 38,385
Discounts on sales of accounts receivable 412 947 863 1,476
Adjusted operating profit $112,224 $37,045 $185,513 $105,773
ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

In the following discussion, references to "we," "us," "our" or the "Company" mean Commercial Metals Company and
its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires. The following discussion and analysis of our
financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto, which are included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and our audited
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto, which are included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014. This discussion contains or incorporates by reference "forward-looking
statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"),
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but rather are based on
expectations, estimates, assumptions and projections about our industry, business and future financial results, based on
information available at the time this report is filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") or, with
respect to any document incorporated by reference, available at the time that such document was prepared. Our actual
results could differ materially from the results contemplated by these forward-looking statements due to a number of
factors, including those identified in the section entitled "Forward-Looking Statements" in this Item 2 of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q and in the section entitled "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014. We do not undertake any obligation to update, amend or clarify any
forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events, new
information or circumstances or otherwise, except as required by law.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies as set forth in Item 7, Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, included in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014.
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our results of operations is based on our continuing operations and excludes any results of
our discontinued operations.

Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Net sales* $1,391,117 $1,597,461 $3,071,107 $3,214,536
Adjusted operating profit*+ 112,224 37,045 185,513 105,773
LIFO expense (income) before income taxes* (72,461 ) 18,924 (78,687 ) 23,291
Earnings from continuing operations 61,719 13,255 100,053 46,955
Adjusted EBITDA*+ 145,091 69,329 251,512 171,592
_______________________________________
* Excludes divisions classified as discontinued operations.
+ Non-GAAP financial measure.
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Adjusted EBITDA

In the table above, we have included financial statement measures that were not derived in accordance with United
States generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). We use adjusted EBITDA (earnings from continuing
operations before net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests, interest expense, income taxes, depreciation,
amortization and impairment charges) as a non-GAAP financial measure. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered
as an alternative to net earnings or as a better measure of liquidity than net cash flows from operating activities, as
determined by GAAP. However, we believe that adjusted EBITDA provides relevant and useful information, which is
often used by analysts, creditors and other interested parties in our industry. In calculating adjusted EBITDA, we
exclude our largest recurring non-cash charge, depreciation and amortization, as well as impairment charges, which
are also non-cash. Adjusted EBITDA provides a core operational performance measurement that compares results
without the need to adjust for federal, state and local taxes which have considerable variation between U.S.
jurisdictions. Tax regulations in international operations add additional complexity. We also exclude interest cost in
our calculation of adjusted EBITDA. The results are, therefore, without consideration of financing alternatives of
capital employed. Adjusted EBITDA is part of a debt compliance test in certain of our debt agreements and is the
target benchmark for our annual and long-term cash incentive performance plans for management. Adjusted EBITDA
may be inconsistent with similar measures presented by other companies.

Reconciliations of earnings from continuing operations to adjusted EBITDA are provided below:
Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Earnings from continuing operations $61,719 $13,255 $100,053 $46,955
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests — 1 — 1
Interest expense 19,252 18,977 38,309 38,385
Income taxes 30,841 3,866 46,288 18,957
Depreciation and amortization 33,130 33,078 66,713 66,391
Impairment charges 149 154 149 905
Adjusted EBITDA $145,091 $69,329 $251,512 $171,592

As noted above, our adjusted EBITDA does not include interest expense, income taxes, depreciation, amortization and
impairment charges. Because we have borrowed money in order to finance our operations, interest expense is a
necessary element of our costs and our ability to generate revenues. Because we use capital assets, depreciation and
amortization are also necessary elements of our costs. Impairment charges, when necessary, accelerate the write-off of
fixed assets that otherwise would have been accomplished by periodic depreciation charges. Additionally, the
payment of income taxes is a necessary element of our operations. Therefore, any measures that exclude these
elements have material limitations. To compensate for these limitations, we believe that it is appropriate to consider
both net earnings determined in accordance with GAAP, as well as adjusted EBITDA, to evaluate our performance.
Further, we separately analyze any significant fluctuations in interest expense, income taxes, depreciation,
amortization and impairment charges.

Adjusted Operating Profit (Loss)

The other non-GAAP financial measure included in the table above is adjusted operating profit (loss). We use
adjusted operating profit (loss) to compare and to evaluate the financial performance of our segments. Adjusted
operating profit (loss) is the sum of our earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, interest
expense and discounts on sales of accounts receivable. For added flexibility, we may sell certain trade accounts
receivable both in the U.S. and internationally. We consider sales of accounts receivable as an alternative source of
liquidity to finance our operations, and we believe that removing these costs provides a clearer perspective of our
operating performance. Adjusted operating profit (loss) may be inconsistent with similar measures presented by other
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Reconciliations of earnings from continuing operations to adjusted operating profit are provided below:
Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Earnings from continuing operations $61,719 $13,255 $100,053 $46,955
Income taxes 30,841 3,866 46,288 18,957
Interest expense 19,252 18,977 38,309 38,385
Discounts on sales of accounts receivable 412 947 863 1,476
Adjusted operating profit $112,224 $37,045 $185,513 $105,773

Summary

Net sales for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 decreased $206.3 million, or 13%, and $143.4 million,
or 4%, respectively compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. The decrease in net sales for the three
months ended February 28, 2015 was due to a decrease in shipments for our Americas Recycling, Americas Mills and
International Marketing and Distribution segments compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2014. Furthermore, during
the second quarter of fiscal 2015, our Americas Recycling segment was impacted by decreases in both ferrous and
nonferrous average selling prices, and our International Mill segment was impacted by a 23% decrease in average
selling prices on flat volumes compared to the corresponding period in the prior fiscal year. In contrast, our Americas
Fabrication segment reported an increase in net sales for the three months ended February 28, 2015 primarily due to
an increase in both rebar shipments and average rebar selling prices compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2014.

The decrease in net sales for the six months ended February 28, 2015 was due to a decrease in both shipments and
average selling prices for our Americas Recycling and International Mill segments compared to the first six months of
fiscal 2014. In contrast, for the six months ended February 28, 2015, our Americas Mills, Americas Fabrication and
International Marketing and Distribution segments each reported an increase in net sales compared to the
corresponding period in the prior fiscal year. Our Americas Mills and Americas Fabrication segments reported an
increase in both shipments and average selling prices for the first six months of fiscal 2015 compared to the
corresponding period in fiscal 2014. Our International Marketing and Distribution segment also reported an increase
in net sales for the six months ended February 28, 2015 as a result of an increase in shipments for both our European
operations and our steel trading division headquartered in the U.S. compared to the first six months of fiscal 2014.

Adjusted operating profit for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 increased $75.2 million and $79.7
million, respectively, when compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. Each of our segments, except our
International Mill segment, reported an improvement in adjusted operating profit for the second quarter of fiscal 2015
compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2014. Our Americas Mills segment benefited from an overall reduction in
average material cost during the second quarter of fiscal 2015 which contributed to a $54.4 million increase in
adjusted operating profit compared to the corresponding period in fiscal 2014. For the three months ended
February 28, 2015, our Americas Fabrication and our International Marketing and Distribution segments both
benefited from an overall increase in average selling prices that outweighed an overall increase in average material
costs, which expanded average metal margins by 2% and 35%, respectively, compared to the second quarter of the
prior fiscal year. Although our Americas Recycling segment reported an adjusted operating loss for the second quarter
of fiscal 2015 due to a decline in both average ferrous and nonferrous metal margins, a favorable change in pre-tax
LIFO partially offset the compressed metal margins and reduced this segment's adjusted operating loss compared to
the same period in fiscal 2014. Adjusted operating profit for our International Mill segment was negatively impacted
in the second quarter of fiscal 2015 as a result of average selling prices declining at a faster pace than declining
average material costs, which resulted in an average metal margin compression of 19% compared to the corresponding
period in the prior fiscal year.
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For the six months ended February 28, 2015, our Americas Mills, Americas Fabrication and International Marketing
and Distribution segments each reported an improvement in adjusted operating profit, while our Americas Recycling
and International Mill segments both reported a decline in adjusted operating profit compared to the first six months
of fiscal 2014. Our Americas Mills segment benefited from an increase in shipments coupled with a 9% decline in
average material costs in the first six months of fiscal 2015, which resulted in a 13% increase in average metal
margins compared to the corresponding period in fiscal 2014. Our Americas Fabrication segment benefited in the first
six months of fiscal 2015 as a result of an increase in rebar shipments, which more than offset average rebar metal
margin compression of 2% compared to the corresponding period in the prior fiscal year. Our International Marketing
and Distribution segment also benefited in the first six months of fiscal 2015 from an increase in volumes for one of
our trading divisions headquartered in the U.S., which more than offset average metal margin compression of 12% for
this same division. Additionally, for the six months ended February 28, 2015, our International Marketing and
Distribution segment benefited from an improvement in average metal margins for our raw materials trading division
headquartered
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in the U.S. as well as for our European and Australian trading operations. For the first six months of fiscal 2015, our
Americas Recycling and International Mill segments were both negatively impacted by a decrease in shipments
coupled with overall average selling prices declining at a faster rate than declining average material costs, which
resulted in overall average metal margin compression of 6% and 13%, respectively, compared to the first six months
of fiscal 2014.

Effective September 1, 2014, we changed our method of determining our LIFO inventory reserve from the complete
quarterly LIFO valuation method to the expected annual LIFO valuation method. Under the expected annual LIFO
valuation method, interim LIFO expense or income is based on management's current estimates of inventory costs and
quantities at year end. Actual inventory costs and quantities at year end will likely differ from the interim estimates,
and such differences may be significant. For the three and six months ended February 28, 2015, we reported favorable
changes in pre-tax LIFO of $91.4 million and $102.0 million, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in
fiscal 2014. The changes in pre-tax LIFO for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 was the result of
management's estimates for the movement in inventory costs and inventory quantities throughout fiscal 2015
compared to the observed movement in inventory prices and quantities during the three and six months ended
February 28, 2014. A discussion of the impact of the changes in pre-tax LIFO on our segments for the three and six
months ended February 28, 2015 is included in the Segment Operating Data section below.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 increased $0.3 million and decreased $0.1
million, respectively, when compared to the three and six months ended February 28, 2014.

Income Taxes 

Our effective income tax rate from continuing operations for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 was
33.3% and 31.6%, respectively, compared with 22.6% and 28.8%, respectively, for the three and six months ended
February 28, 2014. The increase in our effective income tax rate from continuing operations for the three and six
months ended February 28, 2015 was largely attributed to an increase in LIFO income, resulting in an increase in
income expected to be generated in the U.S. which has a higher tax rate than other jurisdictions. Our effective income
tax rate can change from period to period as a result of changes in the mix and amount of pre-tax income generated in
the jurisdictions in which we operate. Our effective income tax rates can also be impacted by state and local taxes as
well as by earnings or losses from foreign jurisdictions. State and local taxes are generally consistent while the
composition of domestic and foreign earnings can create larger fluctuations in our effective tax rate.
We intend to indefinitely reinvest all undistributed earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries. While not expected, if a
repatriation occurs in the future, we would be required to provide for income taxes on repatriated earnings from our
non-U.S. subsidiaries. Determination of the unrecognized deferred income tax liability related to the undistributed
earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries is a complex, hypothetical calculation and is therefore impracticable.
SEGMENT OPERATING DATA

Unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts below are calculated before income taxes. Financial results for our
reportable segments are consistent with the basis and manner in which we internally disaggregate financial
information for the purpose of making operating decisions. See Note 14, Business Segments, to the unaudited
consolidated financial statements included in this report.
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Americas Recycling
Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Net sales $259,079 $342,267 $575,138 $680,470
Adjusted operating loss (172 ) (863 ) (1,315 ) (24 )
LIFO expense (income) (8,708 ) (1,022 ) (9,396 ) 1,503
Average selling price (per short ton)
Average ferrous selling price $260 $350 $285 $338
Average nonferrous selling price 2,272 2,730 2,451 2,710
Short tons shipped (in thousands)
Ferrous tons shipped 452 519 945 1,022
Nonferrous tons shipped 56 54 115 110
Total tons shipped 508 573 1,060 1,132

Net sales for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 decreased $83.2 million, or 24%, and $105.3 million,
or 15%, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. The decrease in net sales for the three and
six months ended February 28, 2015 was principally attributed to a decrease in ferrous tons shipped of 13% and 8%,
respectively, and a decrease in average ferrous selling prices of $90 per short ton and $53 per short ton, respectively.
A strong U.S. dollar, weak oil and gas tubular demand from depressed oil prices, a strong flow of imported steel and
soft global iron ore pricing contributed to the lower average ferrous selling prices. Nonferrous tons shipped increased
4% and 5% in the three and six months ended February 28, 2015, respectively. However, a decline in average
nonferrous selling prices during the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 of $458 per short ton and $259 per
short ton, respectively, outpaced the increase in nonferrous tons shipped, further contributing to the decrease in net
sales. A strong U.S. dollar during the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 lowered export demand which led
to lower average nonferrous selling prices compared to the same periods in fiscal 2014.

Adjusted operating loss for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015, decreased $0.7 million and increased
$1.3 million, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. During the three and six months
ended February 28, 2015, the decline in both average ferrous and nonferrous selling prices discussed above
outweighed the decline in the respective average material cost, which compressed average ferrous metal margins by
20% and 13%, respectively, and compressed average nonferrous metal margins by 2% and 5%, respectively,
compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. Additionally, for the three and six months ended February 28,
2015, labor and employee benefit expenses increased approximately 11% per short ton and 8% per short ton,
respectively, as a result of the decrease in ferrous tons shipped discussed above compared to the corresponding periods
in fiscal 2014. However, a $1.7 million gain on sale of assets and a favorable change in pre-tax LIFO of $7.7 million
and $10.9 million during the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 partially offset the metal margin pressure
caused by the decline in ferrous volumes and the decline in both average ferrous and average nonferrous selling prices
compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. The favorable change in pre-tax LIFO for the three months
ended February 28, 2015 was due to management’s expectation that inventory costs will decline at a faster pace
throughout fiscal 2015 compared to decreases in nonferrous volumes and nonferrous inventory prices during the
second quarter of fiscal 2014. The favorable change in pre-tax LIFO for the six months ended February 28, 2015 was
due to management’s expectation that inventory costs will decline throughout fiscal 2015 compared to increases in
inventory costs during the first six months of fiscal 2014.
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Americas Mills  
Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Net sales $428,845 $456,849 $953,696 $938,000
Adjusted operating profit 98,489 44,062 173,871 109,876
LIFO expense (income) (39,019 ) 11,673 (41,753 ) 9,804
Average price (per short ton)
Finished goods selling price $676 $695 $687 $681
Total sales 662 675 674 666
Cost of ferrous scrap consumed 302 368 319 351
Metal margin 360 307 355 315
Ferrous scrap purchase price 247 322 268 310
Short tons (in thousands)
Tons melted 614 610 1,297 1,262
Tons rolled 563 543 1,179 1,161
Tons shipped 606 631 1,329 1,307

We include our five domestic steel minimills and the recycling locations which directly support the steel minimills in
our Americas Mills segment.

Net sales for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 decreased $28.0 million, or 6%, and increased $15.7
million, or 2%, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. The decrease in net sales during
the second quarter of fiscal 2015 was due to a 4% decrease in tons shipped and a $13 per short ton decrease in average
selling prices as a result of continued import pressures in the U.S. compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2014.
During the second quarter of fiscal 2015, shipments of our higher priced finished products, including rebar and
merchants, decreased approximately four thousand short tons and our lower priced billet shipments decreased
approximately 21 thousand short tons. During the first six months of fiscal 2015, tons shipped increased 2% and
average selling prices increased $8 per short ton as a result of an increase in non-residential construction spending,
resulting in an increase in net sales when compared to the first six months of fiscal 2014. During the first six months
of fiscal 2015, shipments of our higher priced finished products increased approximately 30 thousand short tons while
our billet shipments decreased approximately six thousand short tons.

Adjusted operating profit for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 increased $54.4 million and $64.0
million, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. During the second quarter of fiscal 2015,
the average cost of ferrous scrap consumed declined $66 per short ton, while the average selling price declined $13
per short ton, which resulted in a 17% increase in average metal margins compared to the second quarter of fiscal
2014. Additionally, in the second quarter of fiscal 2015, this segment recorded a $50.7 million favorable change in
pre-tax LIFO compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2014. The favorable change in pre-tax LIFO was due to
management’s expectation that inventory costs will decline throughout fiscal 2015 compared to increases in inventory
costs during the second quarter of fiscal 2014. However, during the second quarter of fiscal 2015, labor and employee
benefit expenses increased 14% per short ton partially due to the reduction in tons shipped discussed above compared
to the second quarter of fiscal 2014. Repairs and maintenance expense increased $3.5 million for the second quarter of
fiscal 2015 as we took advantage of the slower winter season to conduct routine maintenance and equipment
enhancements compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2014. The increase in adjusted operating profit for the first six
months of fiscal 2015 was due to a $32 per short ton decrease in the average cost of ferrous scrap consumed and an $8
per short ton increase in average selling prices, which resulted in a 13% increase in average metal margins compared
to the first six months of fiscal 2014. Additionally, for the six months ended February 28, 2015, this segment recorded
a $51.6 million favorable change in pre-tax LIFO compared to the first six months of fiscal 2014. The favorable
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change in pre-tax LIFO was a result of management’s expectation that inventory costs will decline throughout fiscal
2015 compared to increases in inventory costs during the first six months of fiscal 2014. However, during the first six
months of fiscal 2015, labor and employee benefit expenses increased 7% per short ton partially due to an increase in
production levels and to prepare for a higher level of activity in future periods compared to the first six months of
fiscal 2014. Repairs and maintenance expense increased $8.7 million due to routine maintenance and equipment
enhancements conducted in the normal course of business compared to the corresponding period in fiscal 2014.
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Americas Fabrication 
Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Net sales $344,410 $325,890 $756,898 $684,108
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 11,773 (5,330 ) 8,764 (3,113 )
LIFO expense (income) (17,485 ) 4,470 (18,584 ) 6,305
Average selling price (excluding stock and buyout
sales) (per short ton)
Rebar $927 $905 $919 $890
Structural 2,317 2,478 2,535 2,489
Post 901 881 890 886
Short tons shipped (in thousands)
Rebar 207 203 472 437
Structural 9 13 21 25
Post 26 24 48 45

Net sales for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 increased $18.5 million, or 6%, and $72.8 million, or
11%, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. The increase in net sales for the three and six
months ended February 28, 2015 was primarily due to an increase in rebar shipments of 2% and 8%, respectively, and
a $22 and $29 per short ton increase in average rebar selling prices, respectively. The increases in rebar shipments and
average rebar selling prices were the result of an increase in non-residential construction spending compared to the
corresponding periods in fiscal 2014.

Adjusted operating profit for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 increased $17.1 million and $11.9
million, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. The increase in adjusted operating profit
for the three months ended February 28, 2015 was primarily due to average rebar selling prices increasing at a faster
rate than rising average material cost, which resulted in a 5% increase in average rebar metal margin compared to the
second quarter of fiscal 2014. The increase in adjusted operating profit for the six months ended February 28, 2015
was primarily due to the increase in rebar shipments discussed above, which more than offset a 2% decrease in
average rebar metal margin compared to the corresponding period in fiscal 2014. Additionally, for each of the three
and six months ended February 28, 2015, this segment recorded a favorable change in pre-tax LIFO of $22.0 million
and $24.9 million, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014, as a result of management’s
expectation that inventory costs will decline throughout fiscal 2015 compared to increases in inventory costs during
the three and six months ended February 28, 2014. However, for each of the three and six months ended February 28,
2015, labor and employee benefit expenses increased 11% per short ton in order to fulfill current activity levels and to
prepare for a higher level of production in future periods compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. In
addition, during the three and six months ended February 28, 2015, professional service expenses increased $2.3
million and $3.6 million, respectively, due to an increase in outside placing work and an increase in demand for
structural fabrication services compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014.
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International Mill
Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Net sales $138,449 $181,362 $316,078 $410,512
Adjusted operating profit 819 8,331 5,042 23,600
Average price (per short ton)
Total sales $481 $628 $515 $614
Cost of ferrous scrap consumed 276 375 296 363
Metal margin 205 253 219 251
Ferrous scrap purchase price 229 315 247 308
Short tons (in thousands)
Tons melted 293 312 622 692
Tons rolled 292 256 548 565
Tons shipped 271 271 576 631

Net sales for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 decreased $42.9 million, or 24%, and $94.4 million, or
23%, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. The decrease in net sales for the three and
six months ended February 28, 2015 included an unfavorable foreign currency impact of approximately $25.6 million
and $36.3 million, respectively. The decrease in net sales for the three months ended February 28, 2015 was due to a
23% decrease in average selling prices on flat volumes. The decrease in net sales for the six months ended
February 28, 2015 was due to a 16% decrease in average selling prices coupled with a 9% decrease in tons shipped.
For the three and six months ended February 28, 2015, the decrease in average selling prices resulted from a shift in
product mix due to greater demand for lower-priced rebar and billets over merchant and wirerod products.

Adjusted operating profit for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 decreased $7.5 million and $18.6
million, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014 due to a decrease in average metal margins
of 19% and 13%, respectively. Average metal margin compression for the three and six months ended February 28,
2015 was the result of the decrease in average selling prices discussed above, which outpaced a $99 per short ton and
$67 per short ton decrease, respectively, in the average cost of ferrous scrap consumed compared to the corresponding
periods in fiscal 2014. For the three and six months ended February 28, 2015, utilities and repairs and maintenance
expenses decreased $6.8 million and $13.0 million, respectively, due to the commissioning of a new electric arc
furnace in the third quarter of fiscal 2014, which partially offset the metal margin pressure discussed above compared
to the corresponding periods in the prior fiscal year. Furthermore, for the three and six months ended February 28,
2015, the changes in this segment's cost of goods sold included a favorable foreign currency impact of approximately
$24.6 million and $34.8 million, respectively.

International Marketing and Distribution 
Three Months Ended
February 28,

Six Months Ended February
28,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Net sales $465,238 $520,171 $1,003,044 $965,512
Adjusted operating profit 15,678 4,487 33,930 6,529
LIFO expense (income) (7,249 ) 3,803 (8,954 ) 5,679

Net sales for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 decreased $54.9 million, or 11%, and increased $37.5
million, or 4%, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. The decrease in net sales for the
three and six months ended February 28, 2015 included an unfavorable foreign currency impact of approximately $7.6
million and $9.6 million, respectively. The decrease in net sales for the three months ended February 28, 2015 was
primarily due to a decrease in volumes for our raw materials trading division headquartered in the U.S. as well as a
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decrease in volumes for our European, Australian and Asian operations compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2014.
Further contributing to the decrease in net sales, our European, Australian and Asian operations each reported a
decline in average selling prices compared to the corresponding period in the prior fiscal year. The increase in net
sales for the six months ended February 28, 2015 was primarily due to an increase in volumes
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for our steel trading division headquartered in the U.S. and an increase in volumes for our European operations, which
overcame a 5% and 8% decrease in these division's average selling prices, respectively, compared to the
corresponding period in fiscal 2014.

Adjusted operating profit for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 increased $11.2 million and $27.4
million, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014. The improvement in adjusted operating
profit for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 was attributed to the increase in volumes for our steel
trading division headquartered in the U.S. discussed above, which more than offset average metal margin compression
of 25% and 12%, respectively, at this same division compared to the corresponding periods in the prior fiscal year.
Further contributing to the increase in adjusted operating profit for the six months ended February 28, 2015, our raw
materials trading division headquartered in the U.S. and our European and Australian operations each reported an
increase in average metal margins which was enough to overcome the decrease in volumes reported for these same
divisions. For the three and six months ended February 28, 2015, our steel trading division headquartered in the U.S.
recorded a favorable change in pre-tax LIFO of $11.1 million and $14.6 million, respectively, as a result of
management's expectation that inventory costs will decline throughout fiscal 2015 compared to increases in inventory
costs during the three and six months ended February 28, 2014. Furthermore, for the three and six months ended
February 28, 2015, the changes in this segment's cost of goods sold included a favorable foreign currency impact of
approximately $7.6 million and $10.3 million, respectively.

Corporate 
Our corporate expenses for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015 increased $1.3 million and $2.9 million,
respectively, primarily due to lower net earnings on assets segregated to fund our nonqualified benefit restoration plan
compared to the corresponding periods in fiscal 2014.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS DATA
In September 2014, we made the decision to exit our steel distribution business in Australia. Despite focused efforts
and substantial progress to stabilize and improve the results of the Australian steel distribution business, we
determined that achieving acceptable financial returns would take additional time and investment. In the first quarter
of fiscal 2015, we determined that the decision to exit this business met the definition of a discontinued operation. As
a result, this business has been presented as a discontinued operation for all periods. The expenses associated with
exiting this business were not material for the three and six months ended February 28, 2015. The Australian steel
distribution business was previously an operating segment in the International Marketing and Distribution reporting
segment.
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, we decided to sell all of the capital stock of our wholly owned copper tube
manufacturing operation, Howell Metal Company ("Howell"). We determined that the decision to sell this business
met the definition of a discontinued operation. As a result, the Company included Howell in discontinued operations
for all periods presented. During the first quarter of fiscal 2014, the Company sold all of the outstanding capital stock
of Howell for $58.5 million, of which $3.2 million was held in escrow as of both February 28, 2015 and August 31,
2014. During the second quarter of fiscal 2014, the Company made a $3.0 million working capital adjustment, which
was included in the Company's estimated pre-tax gain of $23.8 million in fiscal 2014. Howell was previously an
operating segment included in the Americas Mills reporting segment.
OUTLOOK

Our third fiscal quarter is the start of the spring construction season, and we are carrying healthy backlogs entering the
busy time of the year for construction markets. Elevated levels of imports supported by a strong dollar and excess
global supply remain our top challenges. The effects of lower oil prices are starting to translate into slower demand for
certain raw materials and steel related products that flow through our International Marketing and Distribution
segment. Demand remains quite good in Poland while competitive pressures will continue to constrain margins.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
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See Note 7, Credit Arrangements, to the unaudited consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for additional information.

While we believe the lending institutions participating in our credit arrangements are financially capable, it is
important to note that the banking and capital markets periodically experience volatility that may limit our ability to
raise capital. Additionally, changes to our credit rating by any rating agency may negatively impact our ability to raise
capital and our financing costs.
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The table below reflects our sources, facilities and availability of liquidity as of February 28, 2015:
(in thousands) Total Facility Availability
Cash and cash equivalents $313,001 $ N/A
Revolving credit facility 350,000 326,555
U.S. receivables sale facility 200,000 160,000
International accounts receivable sales facilities 93,648 38,483
Bank credit facilities — uncommitted 90,027 89,217
Notes due from 2017 to 2023 1,230,000 *
Equipment notes 37,371 *

* We believe we have access to additional financing and refinancing, if needed.

We have $400.0 million of 6.50% Senior Notes due July 2017 (the "2017 Notes"), $500.0 million of 7.35% Senior
Notes due August 2018 (the "2018 Notes") and $330.0 million of 4.875% Senior Notes due May 2023 (the "2023
Notes" and together with the 2017 Notes and the 2018 Notes, the "Notes"). The Notes require interest only payments
until maturity. We expect cash from operations to be sufficient to meet all interest and principal payments due within
the next twelve months, and we believe we will be able to obtain additional financing or to refinance these notes when
they mature.

CMC Poland Sp. z.o.o. ("CMCP") has uncommitted credit facilities of PLN 215 million ($58.0 million) with several
banks with expiration dates ranging from March 2015 to January 2016. We intend to renew the uncommitted credit
facilities upon expiration. During the six months ended February 28, 2015, CMCP had total borrowings of $41.5
million and total repayments of $41.5 million under these facilities. At February 28, 2015, no material amounts were
outstanding under these facilities.

The maximum availability under our $350.0 million revolving credit facility (the "credit facility") can be increased to
$500.0 million. Our obligation under the credit facility is secured by our U.S. inventory. The credit facility's capacity
includes $50.0 million for the issuance of stand-by letters of credit and was reduced by outstanding stand-by letters of
credit which totaled $23.4 million at February 28, 2015.

Under the credit facility, we are required to comply with certain financial and non-financial covenants, including
covenants to maintain: (i) an interest coverage ratio (consolidated EBITDA to consolidated interest expense, as each is
defined in the credit agreement governing our credit facility) of not less than 2.50 to 1.00 and (ii) a debt to
capitalization ratio (consolidated funded debt to total capitalization, as each is defined in the credit agreement
governing our credit facility) that does not exceed 0.60 to 1.00. In addition, beginning on the date three months prior
to each maturity date of the 2017 Notes and the 2018 Notes and each day thereafter that the 2017 Notes and the 2018
Notes are outstanding, we will be required to maintain liquidity of at least $150.0 million in excess of each of the
outstanding aggregate principal amounts of the 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes. Loans under the credit facility bear
interest based on the Eurocurrency rate, a base rate, or the LIBOR rate. At February 28, 2015, our interest coverage
ratio was 5.61 to 1.00 and our debt to capitalization ratio was 0.49 to 1.00.

Our foreign operations generated approximately 21% of our revenue during the second quarter of fiscal 2015, and as a
result, our foreign operations had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $37.0 million at February 28, 2015.
Historically, our domestic operations have generated the majority of our cash, which has been used to fund the cash
needs of our domestic operations as well as our foreign operations. Additionally, our U.S. operations have access to
the $350.0 million credit facility described above and the $200.0 million sale of accounts receivable program
described below. We intend to indefinitely reinvest all undistributed earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries. While not
expected, if a repatriation occurs in the future, we would be required to provide for income taxes on repatriated
earnings from our non-U.S. subsidiaries. Determination of the unrecognized deferred income tax liability related to
the undistributed earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries is not practicable because of the complexities with its

Edgar Filing: COMMERCIAL METALS CO - Form 10-Q

55



hypothetical calculation.

We regularly maintain a substantial amount of accounts receivable. We actively monitor our accounts receivable and,
based on market conditions and customers' financial condition, we record allowances as soon as we believe accounts
are uncollectible. Continued pressure on the liquidity of our customers could result in additional allowances as we
make our assessments in the future. We use credit insurance both in the U.S. and internationally to mitigate the risk of
customer insolvency. We estimate that the amount of credit insured receivables (and those covered by export letters of
credit) was approximately 48% of total receivables at February 28, 2015.
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For added flexibility, we may sell certain accounts receivable both in the U.S. and internationally. See Note 3, Sales of
Accounts Receivable, to the unaudited consolidated financial statements contained in this report. Our U.S. sale of
accounts receivable program contains certain cross-default provisions whereby a termination event could occur if we
default under certain of our credit arrangements. Additionally, our sales of accounts receivable program contains
covenants that are consistent with the covenants contained in the credit facility.

We utilize documentary letter of credit programs whereby we assign certain trade accounts payable associated with
trading transactions entered into by our marketing and distribution divisions. These letters of credit allow for payment
at a future date and are used as an additional source of working capital financing. These letters of credit are issued
under uncommitted lines of credit, which are in addition to and separate from our contractually committed credit
facility and are not included in our overall liquidity analysis. We had $247.0 million and $125.1 million of
documentary letters of credit outstanding at February 28, 2015 and August 31, 2014, respectively. The increase in use
of documentary letters of credit at February 28, 2015 resulted in an increase in cash from financing activities of
$137.5 million. The amount of documentary letters of credit outstanding during the period can fluctuate as a result of
the level of activity and volume of materials purchased during the period as well as a result of their length and timing
to maturity.

On October 27, 2014, CMC's Board of Directors authorized a new share repurchase program under which we may
repurchase up to $100.0 million of shares of CMC common stock. This new program replaced the existing program,
which was terminated by CMC's Board of Directors in connection with the approval of the new program. We intend to
repurchase shares from time to time for cash in open market transactions or in privately-negotiated transactions in
accordance with applicable federal securities laws. The timing and the amount of repurchases, if any, are determined
by management based on an evaluation of market conditions, capital allocation alternatives and other factors. The new
share repurchase program does not require us to purchase any dollar amount or number of shares of CMC common
stock and may be modified, suspended, extended or terminated at any time without prior notice. During the three and
six months ended February 28, 2015, we purchased 2,202,342 and 2,762,835 shares of CMC common stock,
respectively, at an average purchase price of $13.73 and $14.33 per share, respectively.

Cash Flows 

Our cash flows from operating activities result primarily from the sale of steel and related products, and to a lesser
extent, sales of nonferrous metal products and other raw materials used in steel manufacturing. We have a diverse and
generally stable customer base. From time to time, we use futures or forward contracts to mitigate the risks from
fluctuations in metal commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, natural gas prices and interest rates. See
Note 8, Derivatives and Risk Management, to the unaudited consolidated financial statements contained in this report.

Net cash flows used by operating activities were $139.3 million during the first six months of fiscal 2015 compared to
net cash flows from operating activities of $36.4 million during the first six months of fiscal 2014. Net earnings
increased $33.6 million during the first six months of fiscal 2015 compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year.
Net earnings in the first six months of fiscal 2014 included a $23.8 million pre-tax gain on the sale of Howell. There
was no such sale in the same period of fiscal 2015. The impact of the pre-tax gain on the sale of Howell was partially
offset by an $18.6 million increase in deferred income taxes during the first six months of fiscal 2014. Comparatively,
net earnings included an increase in deferred income taxes of $20.4 million during the first six months of fiscal 2015.
There were no other material fluctuations of non-cash items or items included in net earnings for which the cash
effects did not relate to operating activities for the first six months of fiscal 2014 or fiscal 2015.

Cash used by operating assets and liabilities increased $242.4 million during the first six months of fiscal 2015
compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year. The significant components of change within operating assets and
liabilities were as follows:

Edgar Filing: COMMERCIAL METALS CO - Form 10-Q

57



Accounts receivable - Cash from accounts receivable increased $117.9 million during the first six months of fiscal
2015 compared to the same period of fiscal 2014. The increase in cash from accounts receivable was primarily due to
a $470.8 million decrease in consolidated net sales between the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 and the second quarter of
fiscal 2015 compared to an $84.9 million decrease in consolidated net sales between the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013
and the second quarter of fiscal 2014. However, days sales outstanding increased 10 days from 46 days at
February 28, 2014 to 56 days at February 28, 2015.

Accounts receivable sold, net - Cash used by accounts receivable sold, net during the first six months of fiscal 2015
was $50.3 million compared to cash from accounts receivable sold, net of $149.8 million in the same period in the
prior fiscal year. This was due to net repayments on our U.S. sale of accounts receivable program of $15.0 million for
the first six months of fiscal 2015 compared to net proceeds of $80.0 million for the first six months of fiscal 2014. In
addition, during the first six months of fiscal 2015, we had net repayments of $35.3 million on our international sale of
accounts receivable programs compared to net proceeds of $69.8 million during the first six months of fiscal 2014.
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Inventories - Cash used by inventories increased $38.1 million during the first six months of fiscal 2015 compared to
the first six months of fiscal 2014 primarily because we built inventory during this period to meet stronger demand as
a result of the stronger U.S. economy. Additionally, day’s sales in inventories increased 22 days to 81 days at
February 28, 2015 from 59 days at February 28, 2014.

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other payables - Cash used by accounts payable, accrued expenses and other
payables increased $138.8 million during the first six months of fiscal 2015 compared to the first six months of fiscal
2014 as a result of decreased trade payables due to reduced inventory costs and timing of payments.

Net cash flows used by investing activities during the first six months of fiscal 2015 was $38.9 million compared to
net cash flows from investing activities during the first six months of fiscal 2014 of $22.4 million. The largest factor
contributing to the use of cash by investing activities in the first six months of fiscal 2015 was a decrease in proceeds
from the sale of a subsidiary of $49.9 million, of which $52.3 million related to the proceeds from the sale of Howell
during the first six months of fiscal 2014. Additionally, net cash flows used by investing activities increased during
the first six months of fiscal 2015 due to a $13.3 million increase in capital expenditures.

We expect our total capital expenditures for fiscal 2015 to be between $130 million and $150 million. We regularly
assess our capital spending and reevaluate our requirements based on current and expected results.

Net cash flows from financing activities during the first six months of fiscal 2015 was $59.9 million compared to net
cash flows used by financing activities during the first six months of fiscal 2014 of $6.4 million. The increase in net
cash flows from financing activities primarily resulted from a $132.8 million increase in the level of usage of
documentary letters of credit during the first six months of fiscal 2015 compared to the same period of fiscal 2014.
The amount of documentary letters of credit outstanding during the period can fluctuate as a result of the level of
activity and volume of materials purchased during the period as well as a result of their length and timing to maturity.
The increase in the level of usage of documentary letters of credit was partially offset by a $39.6 million increase in
purchases of CMC common stock under our new share repurchase program, as well as a $14.4 million decrease in the
release of restricted cash, primarily related to an $18.3 million release of restricted cash from fiscal 2014 that had been
serving as collateral for letters of credit obligations for our Australian operations. Additionally, we had a decrease in
net short-term borrowings of $9.7 million due to lower demand in our Asian steel trading business toward the end of
the first six months of fiscal 2015 compared to the same period in fiscal 2014.

Our estimated contractual obligations for the twelve months ending February 28, 2015 were approximately $800
million and constitute expenditures incurred in connection with normal revenue producing activities. We believe our
current liquidity is adequate to fund our ongoing operations and planned capital expenditures.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

There were no material changes to our contractual obligations and commitments from the information provided in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014.

Other Commercial Commitments

We maintain stand-by letters of credit to provide support for certain transactions that our insurance providers and
suppliers request. At February 28, 2015, we had committed $23.4 million under these arrangements.
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

For added flexibility, we may sell certain accounts receivable both in the U.S. and internationally. We utilize proceeds
from the sales of the trade accounts receivables as an alternative to short-term borrowings, effectively managing our
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overall borrowing costs and providing an additional source of working capital. We account for sales of the trade
accounts receivables as true sales and the trade accounts receivable balances that are sold are removed from the
consolidated balance sheets. The cash advances received are reflected as cash provided by operating activities on our
consolidated statements of cash flows.
CONTINGENCIES

See Note 13, Commitments and Contingencies, to the unaudited consolidated financial statements included in this
report.
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In the ordinary course of conducting our business, we become involved in litigation, administrative proceedings and
governmental investigations, including environmental matters. We may incur settlements, fines, penalties or
judgments in connection with these matters. Liabilities and costs associated with litigation-related loss contingencies
require estimates and judgments based on our knowledge of the facts and circumstances surrounding each matter and
the advice of our legal counsel. We record liabilities for litigation-related losses when a loss is probable and we can
reasonably estimate the amount of the loss. We evaluate the measurement of recorded liabilities each reporting period
based on the current facts and circumstances specific to each matter. The ultimate losses incurred upon final resolution
of litigation-related loss contingencies may differ materially from the estimated liability recorded at a particular
balance sheet date. Changes in estimates are recorded in earnings in the period in which such changes occur. We do
not believe that any currently pending legal proceedings to which we are a party will have a material adverse effect,
individually or in the aggregate, on our results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the federal
securities laws, with respect to economic conditions, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and
business, and our expectations or beliefs concerning future events. These forward-looking statements can generally be
identified by phrases such as we or our management "expects," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "intends," "plans
to," "ought," "could," "will," "should," "likely," "appears," "projects," "forecasts," "outlook" or other similar words or
phrases. There are inherent risks and uncertainties in any forward-looking statements. We caution readers not to place
undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.

The Company's forward-looking statements are based on management's expectations and beliefs as of the time this
report is filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or, with respect to any document incorporated by
reference, as of the time such document was prepared. Although the Company believes that its expectations are
reasonable, it can give no assurance that these expectations will prove to have been correct, and actual results may
vary materially. Except as required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update, amend or clarify any
forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events, new
information or circumstances or otherwise. Some of the important factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from the Company's expectations include the following:

•absence of global economic recovery or possible recession relapse and the pace of overall global economic activity
and its impact in a highly cyclical industry;

•construction activity or lack thereof;

•continued sovereign debt problems in the Euro-zone;

•success or failure of governmental efforts to stimulate the economy including restoring credit availability and
confidence in a recovery;

•significant reductions in China’s steel consumption or increased Chinese steel production;

•rapid and significant changes in the price of metals;

•increased capacity and product availability from competing steel minimills and other steel suppliers including import
quantities and pricing;

•passage of new, or interpretation of existing, environmental laws and regulations;

•increased legislation associated with climate change and greenhouse gas emissions;

Edgar Filing: COMMERCIAL METALS CO - Form 10-Q

61



•solvency of financial institutions and their ability or willingness to lend;

•customers' inability to obtain credit and non-compliance with contracts;

•financial covenants and restrictions on the operation of our business contained in agreements governing our debt;

•currency fluctuations;

•global factors including political and military uncertainties;
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•availability of electricity and natural gas for minimill operations;

•information technology interruptions and breaches in security data;

•ability to retain key executives;

•execution of cost reduction strategies;

•industry consolidation or changes in production capacity or utilization;

•ability to make necessary capital expenditures;

•availability and pricing of raw materials over which we exert little influence, including scrap metal, energy, insurance
and supply prices;

•unexpected equipment failures;

•competition from other materials;

•losses or limited potential gains due to hedging transactions;

•litigation claims and settlements, court decisions and regulatory rulings;

•risk of injury or death to employees, customers or other visitors to our operations;

•increased costs related to health care reform legislation; and

•those factors listed under Item 1A. "Risk Factors" included in the Company's Annual Report filed on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014.
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

There have been no material changes to the information set forth in Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
about Market Risk included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014.
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The term "disclosure controls and procedures" is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act. This
term refers to the controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to
be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within required time periods, and includes controls and procedures designed to ensure that
such information is accumulated and communicated to the company's management, including its principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, and they have concluded that as of that date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred during our fiscal quarter ended February 28, 2015 that materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Edgar Filing: COMMERCIAL METALS CO - Form 10-Q

63



ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014, on
September 18, 2008, we were served with a purported class action antitrust lawsuit alleging violations of Section 1 of
the Sherman Act, brought by

37

Edgar Filing: COMMERCIAL METALS CO - Form 10-Q

64



Standard Iron Works of Scranton, Pennsylvania, against nine steel manufacturing companies, including CMC. The
lawsuit, filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, alleged that the defendants
conspired to fix, raise, maintain and stabilize the price at which steel products were sold in the United States by
artificially restricting the supply of such steel products. The lawsuit, which purported to be brought on behalf of a
class consisting of all parties who purchased steel products directly from the defendants between January 1, 2005 and
September 2008 (collectively, the "Direct Purchaser Plaintiffs"), sought treble damages and costs, including
reasonable attorney fees and pre- and post-judgment interest.

On March 14, 2014, the Company entered into a final settlement agreement with the Direct Purchaser Plaintiffs. As
part of that final settlement, in April 2014, the Company paid approximately $4 million to the Direct Purchaser
Plaintiffs in consideration for the full and final release of all claims of the Direct Purchaser Plaintiffs. The Company
maintains that the claims lacked merit and that it has full and complete defenses to all of the claims asserted against it.
However, the Company agreed to enter into the settlement agreement to avoid further expense, inconvenience, and
distraction of burdensome and protracted litigation. On October 17, 2014, the court granted final approval of the
settlement.

On September 24, 2008, a case was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois on
behalf of a purported nationwide class of indirect purchasers naming the same defendants and containing allegations
substantially identical to those of the complaint filed by Standard Iron Works. The lawsuit sought damages, including
reasonable attorney fees and other amounts recoverable by statute. Some document production has occurred in the
case. Another action was filed in Tennessee state court on behalf of a purported class of indirect purchasers in
Tennessee naming the same defendants but seeking recovery for purchases through 2010. The lawsuit sought damages
and costs, including reasonable attorney fees and pre- and post-judgment interest. The case has been removed to
federal court and was transferred to United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois in March
2012. No motion practice or discovery has taken place. The Company believes that the lawsuits are without merit and
plans to defend them vigorously. Due to the uncertainty and the information available as of the date of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, the Company cannot reasonably estimate a range of loss relating to these cases.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes to the risk factors previously disclosed in Part I Item 1A of the Company's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014.
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

The following table provides information about purchases by the Company during the quarter ended February 28,
2015 of equity securities that are registered by the Company pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Period Total Number of
Shares Purchased

Average Price
Paid per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans
or Programs

Approximate
Dollar Value of
Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans or
Programs (1)

December 1, 2014 - December 31,
2014 253,411 15.80 253,411 $86,653,844

January 1, 2015 - January 31, 2015 1,500,000 13.45 1,500,000 66,483,694
February 1, 2015 - February 28, 2015 448,931 13.51 448,931 60,419,516
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Total 2,202,342 2,202,342

(1)

 On October 27, 2014, the Company announced that CMC's Board of Directors had authorized a new share
repurchase program under which the Company may repurchase up to $100.0 million of shares of CMC common
stock. This new program replaced the existing program, which was terminated by CMC's Board of Directors in
connection with the approval of the new program. The new share repurchase program does not require the
Company to purchase any dollar amount or number of shares of CMC common stock and may be modified,
suspended, extended or terminated by the Company at any time without prior notice.
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ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K:

3.1(a) Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3(i) to Commercial Metals Company's Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1(b)
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated February 1, 1994 (filed as Exhibit
3(i)(a) to Commercial Metals Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31,
2009 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1(c)
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated February 17, 1995 (filed as Exhibit
3(i)(b) to Commercial Metals Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31,
2009 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1(d)
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated January 30, 2004 (filed as Exhibit
3(i)(d) to Commercial Metals Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 29,
2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1(e)
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated January 26, 2006 (filed as Exhibit
3(i) to Commercial Metals Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28,
2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1(f) Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Preferred Stock (filed as Exhibit 2 to
Commercial Metals Company's Form 8-A filed August 3, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Commercial Metals Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference).

31.1 Certification of Joseph Alvarado, President and Chief Executive Officer of Commercial Metals Company,
pursuant to Section 302 to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

31.2 Certification of Barbara R. Smith, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Commercial Metals
Company, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

32.1
Certification of Joseph Alvarado, President and Chief Executive Officer of Commercial Metals Company,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed
herewith).

32.2
Certification of Barbara R. Smith, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Commercial Metals
Company, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(filed herewith).

101

The following financial information from Commercial Metals Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended February 28, 2015, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings (Unaudited), (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Unaudited) (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited), (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows (Unaudited), (v) the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Unaudited) and (vi) the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (submitted electronically herewith).
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SIGNATURE
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

COMMERCIAL METALS COMPANY

March 31, 2015 /s/ Barbara R. Smith
Barbara R. Smith
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Duly authorized officer and principal financial officer of the
registrant)
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit

3.1(a) Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3(i) to Commercial Metals Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1(b)
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated February 1, 1994 (filed as
Exhibit 3(i)(a) to Commercial Metals Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
August 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1(c)
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated February 17, 1995 (filed as
Exhibit 3(i)(b) to Commercial Metals Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
August 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1(d)
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated January 30, 2004 (filed as
Exhibit 3(i)(d) to Commercial Metals Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
February 29, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1(e)
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated January 26, 2006 (filed as
Exhibit 3(i) to Commercial Metals Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
February 28, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1(f) Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Preferred Stock (filed as Exhibit 2 to
Commercial Metals' Form 8-A filed August 3, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Commercial Metals Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference).

31.1 Certification of Joseph Alvarado, President and Chief Executive Officer of Commercial Metals
Company, pursuant to Section 302 to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

31.2 Certification of Barbara R. Smith, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Commercial
Metals Company, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

32.1
Certification of Joseph Alvarado, President and Chief Executive Officer of Commercial Metals
Company, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith).

32.2
Certification of Barbara R. Smith, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Commercial
Metals Company, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

101

The following financial information from Commercial Metals Company's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 2015, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting
Language): (i) the Consolidated Statements of Earnings (Unaudited), (ii) the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income (Unaudited) (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited), (iv) the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited), (v) the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders'
Equity (Unaudited) and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (submitted
electronically herewith).
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